Cyngor Abertawe Swansea Council

Dinas a Sir Abertawe

Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod

Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod

Panel Perfformiad Craffu - Gwella Gwasanaethau a Chyllid

Lleoliad: Ystafell Bwyllgor 5, Neuadd y Ddinas, Abertawe

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 1 Tachwedd 2017

Amser: 10.30 am

Cynullydd: Y Cynghorydd Chris Holley OBE

Aelodaeth:

Cynghorwyr: P Downing, P R Hood-Williams, L James, M H Jones, P Jones,

J W Jones, I E Mann, B J Rowlands a/ac D W W Thomas

Agenda

Rhif y Dudalen.

- 1 Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.
- 2 Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol. www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeliadauBuddiannau

Cofnodion
 Cymeradwyo a llofnodi, fel cofnod cywir, gofnodion y cyfarfod

4 Cwestiynau gan y Cyhoedd

blaenorol.

5 Ailgylchu a Thirlenwi - Monitro Perfformiad Blynyddol 5 - 8
 Keith Coxon - Rheolwr Perfformiad a Phrosiectau

6 Datganiad Cyllideb Canol Blwyddyn 2017/18

Ben Smith - Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Ariannol a'r Ganolfan Wasanaeth

7 Y Diweddaraf am y Gronfa wrth Gefn 9 - 31

Ben Smith - Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Ariannol a'r Ganolfan Wasanaeth

8 Cynllun Gwaith 2017/2018 32 - 35

Cyfarfod nesaf: Dydd Mercher, 6 Rhagfyr 2017 ar 10.30 am

Huw Eons

Huw Evans Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd Dydd Mercher, 25 Hydref 2017

Cyswllt: Bethan Hopkins - 636292





City and County of Swansea

Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Service Improvement & Finance

Committee Room 5, Guildhall, Swansea

Wednesday, 4 October 2017 at 10.30 am

Present: Councillo C A Holley (Chair) Presided

Councillor(s)Councillor(s)Councillor(s)P R Hood-WilliamsL JamesM H Jones

I E Mann D W W Thomas

Co-opted Member(s) Co-opted Member(s)

Officer(s)

Bethan Hopkins Scrutiny Officer

Rhian Millar Consultation Co-ordinator

Ann Williams Equalities Policy Development Officer

Richard Rowlands Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager.

Apologies for Absence

Councillor(s): P Downing, P Jones, J W Jones and B J Rowlands

Co-opted Member(s):

1 Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.

None Disclosed

2 Minutes

Notes of the Panel meeting held on 6 September 2017 were agreed as a correct record

3 Responses to queries from previous meeting

Accepted

4 Annual Report - Welsh Language Standards 2016/17

Rhian Millar Consultation Coordinator, and Ann Williams Equalities Policy Development Officer, attended to brief the Panel on the Welsh Language Standards 2016/17 Annual Report.

Key Points Raised

- The standards came in last March 2016 and the Annual Report is mandatory
- There is lots of support available to staff including training and a Welsh Language Champion in each department
- There is an outline 5 year plan to increase Welsh speaking external agencies such as Menter laith have been invloved
- The responsibility lies with the Chief Executive and Corporate Management Team with Access to Services as the first point of contact
- Welsh speaking lanyards are available from security and there has been work undertaken in setting up groups
- There has been an increase and improvement in understanding the need to comply and using translation services properly

Questions and Discussions focussed on

- The Panel liked the lanyards which indicate you are a Welsh speaker/learner and wondered whether Councillors knew about them
- The Panel wondered whether the Annual Report was available in Welsh
- The Panel asked that any only adjustments be reported annually to the Panel rather than the full Annual Report
- Standard 33 requires translation services are available in public meetings. There was discussion around what constitutes a public meeting

Actions

- Disseminate information about lanyards to all Councillors via Democratic Services
- Send a link to the Welsh version of the Annual Report to be send to the Panel
- Ann Williams will clarify 'public meeting'. Panel to be updated

5 Quarter 1 2017/18 Performance Monitoring Report

Richard Rowlands Corporate Performance Manager, attended to brief the Panel on Q1 2017/18 Performance Monitoring Report.

Key Points Raised

- AS9 (The % of Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding assessments completed in 21 days or less) is a continuing concern – a new team is being established to deal with it
- The total number of staff completing the corporate mandatory safeguarding awareness training is 176 against a 200 target – effort required to increase uptake
- CUST5/CUST6/SUSC2 shows a reduction in comparison to Qtr1 2016/17 this information is based on perception surveys
- The Chief Social Services Officer, in his overview set out within the report, states that there are concerns about the number of children and young people

requiring statutory children services support and that there are higher numbers of looked after children, which is borne out in some of the data in the report. The Chief Social Services Officer also states in the report that this highlights the importance of properly targeted preventative services.

Questions and Discussions focussed on

- The need to increase staff uptake of safeguarding training
- How perception surveys are carried out when, what format, weighting given to questions etc
- Public perception of the Council when staff members are smoking outside the policy around this
- The Scrutiny Performance Panel Child & Family Services continuing to focus on the level of demand being experienced by Child & Family Services.

Actions

- Add Work Plan item for Lee Wenham and Chris Sivers to attend Panel to discuss perception surveys and their process
- Contact Steve Rees to establish staff smoking policy linking in with public perception of Swansea Council

6 Local Government Performance 2016-17

Local Government Performance summary discussed.

Key Points

• Swansea has 6 indicators in the top quarter, 3 in the bottom quarter, 2 in the upper middle quarter and 2 in the lower middle quarter

Questions and Discussions focussed on

- Landfill, fly tipping and municipal waste the scores seem low considering the Waste Department received a performance award within the last year
- The Panel were disappointed that the measure around days taken to deliver a disabled facilities grant still at 22 of 22

<u>Actions</u>

- Send link to full report Local Government Performance Report 2016/17 to Panel
- Ask Steve Rees to include feedback on fly tipping and municipal waste performance at his next Scrutiny Visit
- Get feedback on performance in relation to Disabled Facilities Grants

7 Work Plan 2017/2018

Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Service Improvement & Finance (04.10.2017)

Cont'd

- Panel reminded of additional meeting 16th October for Public Protection Commissioning Review
- Add item relating to Public Perception Surveys with Lee Wenham and Chris Sivers
- Add extra item to the Recycling and Landfill Annual report to explain the low scores on the Local Government Report

The meeting ended at 11.15 am

Chair

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment & Transport

Service Improvement & Finance Scrutiny Performance Panel November 2017

RECYCLING AND LANDFILL

Purpose	To monitor and challenge performance and action plan for meeting statutory targets.
Content	This report explains the statutory recycling and landfill targets, performance to date and actions to meet statutory targets.
Councillors are being asked to	Consider the report.
Lead Councillor	Councillor Mark Thomas, Cabinet member for Environmental Services
Lead Officer	Chris Howell
Report Author	Ian Whettleton 01792 796886 Ian.whettleton@swansea.gov.uk

1. Background

- 1.1 The Welsh Governments National Strategy 'Towards Zero Waste' sets out a 70% recycling and composting target for 2025. It also sets out targets to reduce the amount of biodegradable waste sent to landfill.
- 1.2 Council adopted a Waste Strategy in 2012 which sets out a range of principles and actions to achieve the statutory targets set out in Welsh Governments plans. In addition the service was subject to a comprehensive 'Commissioning Review' in 2016 which looked at how the service can move forward in the most cost effective manner whilst meeting the statutory targets.

In 2016/17 the Authority exceeded the statutory target of 58% by achieving 63.70 %, an increase of 4.17% on the previous year. Whilst this performance exceeded the statutory target it meant that the authority sat 12th in a league table of performance for the whole of Wales. It should be noted however that most LAs in Wales are sending their residual waste for incineration, which means that they are also able to claim recycling tonnage for the residue ash produced. This usually increases the recycling rate by around 6%, so as we are incinerating very little at this time, our ranking is artificially low. Once we fill Tir John and then send our residual waste to Energy from Waste, our ranking will improve into the second or first quartile, although we

are unlikely to be able to complete with the rural LAs such as Monmouth, Ceredigion, and Pembroke etc. as we have a number of factors which adversely affect out recycling rate. These include:

- A large commercial sector being a city authority
- A large student population
- A large number of flats and other high density housing with less room to recycle.
- 1.3 The authority also currently sit in 22nd position within Wales with regards the PI relating to the percentage of residual waste it sends to landfill. This again is solely due to the fact that we are one of the few LAs who still run a landfill site, with most LAs sending waste for incineration. The PI is not an indication of "good" performance, more a result of disposal strategy. We need to fill Tir John with material to achieve the planned profile prior to closure and landscaping. Diverting all our residual waste from landfill to Energy from Waste would not only leave the landfill site short of material, it would also cost approx. £750K per year for the next 2 years. Work to procure a long term solution for the disposal/treatment of our residual waste is currently on-going.
- 1.4 The current statutory recycling and composting target which rose to 58% in 2015/16 will remain at this level until 2019/20 when it will rise to 64%. In addition to these targets the Authority also has a target to meet in relation to the amount of biodegradable waste it can send to landfill.
 - Should either of their targets not be achieved the Authority could face fines of £200 for every tonne that the targets is missed, which represents £250k for every 1% short of the target.
- 1.5 Based on our current recycling and composting rate for the first half of this year the authority is likely to achieve a full year figure of 61-62% for 2017/18. This overall result is being impacted by the tightening of guidelines regarding the recycling of wood.
- 1.6 The priority improvement areas to enable the Authority to try and meet the increasing statutory targets will include the implementation of the recommendations of the Commissioning Review together with increased focus on:-
 - Waste Minimisation
 - Increasing Participation
 - Energy from Waste
 - Getting more recycling out of the black bags.
 - Segregating nappies and adult hygiene products out of the residual waste stream.
 - Increasing the recycling rates of waste collected from commercial premises.
- 2. How did we meet and exceed our targets last year?

- 2.1 The benefits gained from the introduction of the three bag limit continued to play a major role in assisting the Authority meet the current target.
- 2.2 The introduction of restrictions on the deposit of residual waste at HWRCs has also started to impact positively on our recycling performance.

Initiatives introduced include:

- Converting 3 of the sites Tir John, Garngoch and Penlan to Recycling Centres only through the removal of the residual skips.
- Only allowing non-recyclable waste to be deposited in residual skips at Llansamlet HWRC and Clyne in line with the aims of the Environment (Wales) Act.
- 2.3 An on-going advertising and communications plan is in place together with a range of initiatives to encourage more participation in the extensive kerbside collection services that are provided. This will have medium and long term benefits by changing attitudes towards recycling for those who do not yet participate.
- 2.4 Commercial waste customers have increased their level of recycling and work to increase this further is on-going.
- 2.5 Rubble collection facilities continue to make a contribution of our overall recycling figures.
- 2.6 The permit scheme for vans continues to contribute to restricting the levels of Commercial waste being presented at the sites.
- 2.7 The Reuse Shop has been expanded with the aid of Welsh Government funding and provides essential household items for low income families.
- 2.8 It should be noted that the authority has recently picked up 2 National Awards for its innovative improvements to the Household Waste Recycling Centres and the expansion of our Re-use Shop, which have ensured that we continue to exceed WG targets and be the best performing city LA in Wales.

3. What's next?

The Commissioning review approved by Council in July 2016 contained recommendations' to enable the Authority to meet the statutory targets many of which have now been implemented.

Initiatives that are being implemented during 2017/18 include:

- The trailing of a nappy collection service at 2 of the HWRCs and a drive to segregate nappies and adult hygiene products at the kerbside via the '3 bag' exemption scheme.
- The implementation of a comprehensive communications campaign and enforcement strategy to support the above actions in seeking behavioural change and increase community engagement.
- Completion of the implementation of reusable pink bags across the Authority for the collection of plastics at the kerbside.

Work is on-going to measure the impact the measures will have on recycling rates and the levels of residual waste. Initial indications are that the changes could see this year's recycling performance at around 61-62%, and next year's performance at around 62-64%, despite the pressure surrounding the recycling of wood.

Work to procure a long term treatment facility for food waste has now been completed and a contract for an initial term of 15years has been entered in to. Work to procure an 'Energy from Waste' solution for our residual waste is ongoing. This when implemented will increase our recycling performance, improve of PI position in relation to the percentage of residual waste being landfilled.and most importantly reduce our reliance on landfill.

Once the changes detailed above have been fully implemented and evaluated decisions can then be made in relation to other possible measures that can be taken to ensure targets are met.

Background Papers: Waste Management Strategy, Waste Management

Commissioning Review

Contact: Ian Whettleton

Date: 20th October 2017



Report of the Section 151 Officer

Council – 26 October 2017

Review of Revenue Reserves

Purpose: To undertake a mid-year review of the Revenue

Reserves position and to agree any suggested reclassification of reserves based on current

requirements.

Policy framework: Sustainable Swansea Budget Plan 2017/18

Consultation: Cabinet Members, Corporate Management Team, Legal

and Access to Services.

Recommendations: The recommendations made in this report at Sections

3.13 to 3.16 are considered and approved.

Report Author: Ben Smith

Finance Officer: Ben Smith

Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith

Access to Services Officer: Sherill Hopkins

1 Introduction and context

- 1.1 Local Authorities have a corporate responsibility to operate within available resources and to remain financially sound over the short, medium and longer term.
- 1.2 One of the key tools available to Authorities in managing its affairs is the creation and use of both General and Earmarked reserves to assist in delivering services over a period longer than one financial year.

- 1.3 In terms of guidance on the review and management of reserves, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), via the Local Authority Accounting Panel, issued a bulletin in July 2014 (LAAP 99) intended to give guidance to Local Authorities on the management and review of reserves. This bulletin is considered best practice in terms of Local Authority financial administration and effectively must be followed. A copy of the bulletin is at Appendix A to this report.
- 1.4 Within the existing statutory and regulatory framework, it is the responsibility of Chief Financial Officers to advise Local Authorities about the level of reserves that should be held and to ensure there are clear protocols for their establishment and use. Reserves should not be held without a clear purpose.
- 1.5 It is the duty of the Chief Financial Officer to specifically report on the robustness of estimates and reserves when the Council considers its budget requirement, as such the Revenue Budget approved by Council in February 2017 made specific references to the adequacy of reserves at that time.
- 1.6 Notwithstanding that specific statutory requirement, it is the duty of the Chief Finance Officer to regularly review the position regarding available reserves of the Authority having specific regard to:
 - The original and current need for each category of reserve held
 - An assessment of current and future risks (both operationally and financially) facing the Council
 - The impact of known and predicted funding levels likely to impact on the Council going forward.
- 1.7 Swansea Council's Chief Finance Officer (the Section 151 Officer) is the Head of Financial Services and the Service Centre.
- 1.8 This report considers the position regarding both General and Earmarked reserves as at 31st March 2017 and makes specific recommendations in respect of reclassification of elements of those specific reserves.

2. Position as at 31st March 2017

2.1 The draft Statement of Accounts 2016/17 presented to our external Auditors included the following entries in respect of reserves as at 31st March 2017:

Usable Reserves	£'000	Purpose
General Fund	12,360	Used as an overall contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies and as a means of smoothing out annual budgets where there is significant change
Earmarked Revenue Reserves	55,741	Consisting of sums set aside for specific purposes to support Corporate and Service needs

Usable Reserves	£'000	Purpose
Capital Receipts	6,092	Capital monies received by the Council
Reserve		set aside for funding ongoing Capital
		schemes per the Capital Programme.
		These sums are committed to current
		schemes and cannot be used to support
		Revenue expenditure
Capital Grants	14,927	Relates to committed funding on Capital
Unapplied Account		schemes and cannot be used to support
		Revenue expenditure
Housing Revenue	9,821	Exists to support expenditure for Housing
Account		Revenue Account purposes only and
		cannot be used to support General
		Fund Council Revenue or Capital
		expenditure
Total Usable	98,941	
Reserves		

- 2.2 In addition the Council holds a net £285.546m in unusable reserves arising purely from accounting technicalities. These cannot be used to support revenue or capital expenditure of the Council in any form and as such are not part of this review.
- 2.3 The HRA reserve and the Capital reserves detailed above are ring-fenced and are regularly reviewed as part of business planning. As such no further review is proposed at this time.
- 2.4 The General Fund Balance of the Council as detailed above takes account of decisions made by Cabinet based on the 2016/17 Revenue Outturn position considered on 20th July 2017.
- 2.5 Comparisons with other Welsh Councils show that, as a percentage of Gross Revenue Expenditure, the level of the General Fund reserve is slightly below the All Wales average (as at 31st March 2016) and as such no planned use of the balance is recommended.
- 2.6 The draft Statement of Accounts as presented to our external Auditors (Wales Audit Office) by 30th June included an analysis of earmarked reserves with the proviso that each reserve was subject to strategic review by the Section 151 Officer based on an analysis of current need and changing Council risks.
- 2.7 This report is the result of that strategic review.

3. Outcomes and recommendations

3.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan approved by Council on 23rd February 2017 forecast a cumulative deficit on General Fund Revenue Expenditure of some £61m by 2020/21 with an immediate savings requirement of £22m for

- 2018/19. This is in addition to the current year Directorate savings requirement of £18.7m. More recent forecasts indicate an even larger savings requirement will be likely, predominantly as a result of planned significant additional capital investment and the associated costs of increased borrowing.
- 3.2 However, there is clear and compelling evidence that savings planned in the areas of Social Services and Corporate Services are unlikely to be fully achieved in the current year, which puts future years in jeopardy.
- 3.3 To put it into context, if all planned savings for 2017/18 are achieved it still leaves a gap of £22m to be addressed for 2018/19.
- 3.4 The Council's strategy for dealing with ongoing budget reductions and Service reforms Sustainable Swansea is ongoing and it is clear that, whether as a result of commissioning reviews or emergency action being required to produce a balanced budget going forward, there is likely to be considerable cost in relation to change, together with potential significant investment in digital technology solutions.
- 3.5 Dealing with the cost of future structural change is a significant financial risk facing the given the scale and pace of budget reductions to be addressed by the Council.
- 3.6 Traditionally exit costs in relation to downsizing the organization has been dealt with through the use of the annual contingency fund, currently standing at an annual contribution of £5.4m. However, in 2016/17 the total exit costs exceeded the contingency fund, and similar can be expected in 2017/18. The first quarter monitoring report estimated £3.5m to be funded from the contingency fund, with a further £3.5m to be funded by the restructuring reserve if necessary. This would leave nearly £2m in the contingency fund to mitigate the effect of Directorate pressures.
- 3.7 In assessing both the level and use of Earmarked and General reserves, the LAAP bulletin sets out some of the factors that should be considered, including:-
 - The treatment of demand led pressures
 - The treatment of planned efficiency savings/productivity gains
 - The financial risks inherent in any significant new funding partnerships or changes in service delivery
 - The general financial climate to which the Authority is subject.
- 3.8 Having considered the above, and in the context of a medium term financial plan that shows ongoing and sustained budget reductions, it is the opinion of the Section 151 Officer that the Council needs to continue to prepare for significant change in service delivery that will inevitably impact on direct employment levels going forward.

- 3.9 Indications from Local Authorities in England typically suggest a reduction in the directly employed workforce of around 30% based on experience of the austerity agenda, which includes transfers where appropriate to alternative service providers and/or job losses. Current indications are that to date Swansea Council has seen reductions of around 10% in terms of FTE staffing numbers.
- 3.10 Changes on such a scale will inevitably come with substantial up-front costs and it is important at this time that the Council plans operationally and financially to meet these changes. The 2017/18 Budget Report to Council in February 2017 stated that there was an underlying planning assumption that £2m of the existing restructuring reserve be provisionally committed towards meeting part of the cost of staffing reductions as they fall due in 2017/18. The first quarter monitoring report indicates that a further £1.5m could be required (as referred to in paragraph 3.6 above)
- 3.11 As such it is vitally important that the restructuring reserve is topped up and kept at a level that will enable the Council to carry out any necessary restructuring as it transforms under the Sustainable Swansea programme. Therefore it is recommended that elements of the Transformation and Efficiency Reserve are transferred into the Restructuring Reserve to make it clear that this is the intended use.
- 3.12 The Council set aside £2.5m in a Job Evaluation reserve last year to meet the cost of settling outstanding equal pay claims during 2016/17. The full amount was utilised last year, and although there are still a few outstanding, the majority of claims have now been settled.
- 3.13 As one of the shortlisted candidates for the prestigious City of Culture award it would be prudent to set aside funding in anticipation of the spend that may be required as part of this bid. As such it is recommended that £1m pa is set aside in a separate service earmarked reserve, with effect from 1st April 2018. This will be fully taken into account, as necessary, in the forthcoming budget round.
- 3.14 Similarly it is recommended that a capital equalisation reserve is created, again with effect from 1st April 2018, to help with any timing issues around the need to fund any City Deal projects in advance of receipt of funding from other bodies.
- 3.15 In addition, it would be prudent to set aside now the money for the Local Government Elections in 2022. As these costs don't occur every year there is no base budget for them, setting aside the money in reserves now will alleviate this pressure in future budget cycles. At the current time it is estimated that the costs in 2022 will be in the region of £300,000.

3.16 To this extent, and following a review of current earmarked reserves, the following re-classification of earmarked reserves is recommended:-

Category of Earmarked Reserve	Current Balance 31/03/17	Proposed Change	Recommended Position
	£'000	£'000	£'000
Technical/third party	877	0	877
Insurance	15,695	0	15,695
Transformation and efficiency	3,335	-2,279	1,056
Schools delegated reserves	7,575	0	7,575
Equalisation reserves	0	0	0
Commuted sums	5,030	0	5,030
Repair and renewal funds	3,303	0	3,303
Profit share on disposals	1,217	0	1,217
Service earmarked reserves	4,650	300	4,950
Capital reserves	5,580	0	5,580
Restructuring costs reserve	8,479	1,979	10,458
Total Earmarked Reserves	55,741	0	55,741

4. Valuation of reserve requirements

- 4.1 A number of the reserves highlighted above have been set aside for specific purposes; these include the insurance reserve set aside to meet the potential cost of excess payments should a claim on external insurers materialise or should the Council have to meet claims from its own resources. Repair and renewal funds set aside to meet future major repair and renewal costs on strategic assets (The LC, Wales National Pool, Quadrant Bus Station), and reserves set aside for profit share on disposals of assets where reclamation has been funded by the WDA/Welsh Government.
- 4.2 It is essential that monies set aside for the above purposes are regularly reviewed in order to confirm their accuracy and relevance.
- 4.3 To that extent formal assurance will be sought on the adequacy of these reserve levels as part of the annual budget setting process.
- 4.4 As part of the budget setting process for 2017/18 a formal review of the Insurance reserve was completed and it was determined that a take from the reserve of £700k per annum for the next 3 years (starting with 2017/18) was acceptable. This has already been built into planning assumptions.
- 4.5 As part of the budget setting process for 2018/19 a formal review will be carried out again of all service earmarked reserves to test their continued relevance and value.

5. Legal implications

- 5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires each Local Authority to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and that the Chief Finance Officer (in our case the Head of Financial Services and the Service Centre) has responsibility for those affairs.
- 5.2 Under guidance detailed at Appendix A to this report the Chief Finance Officer is required at all times to monitor the purpose and use of reserves.

6 Access to Service implications

6.1 Having assessed the current planned use of earmarked reserves there are no significant equalities implications arising from these changes

Background Papers: None

Appendix A: LAAP Bulletin 99 – Local Authority Reserves and Balances



LAAP BULLETIN 99

Local Authority Reserves and Balances

July 2014

The Local Authority Accounting Panel issues LAAP Bulletins to assist practitioners with the application of the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, SeRCOP and Prudential Code, and to provide advice on emerging or urgent accounting issues. Bulletins provide influential guidance that is intended to be best practice, but are not prescriptive and do not have the formal status of the Code, SeRCOP or Prudential Code.

Please address any queries to CIPFA Technical Enquiry Service for CIPFA members and students technical.enquiry@cipfa.org.uk

> The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales Number 231060

CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, is the professional body for people in public finance. Our 14,000 members work throughout the public services, in national audit agencies, in major accountancy firms, and in other bodies where public money needs to be effectively and efficiently managed. As the only UK professional accountancy body to specialise in public services, CIPFA's qualifications are the foundation of a career in public finance. They include the benchmark professional qualification for public sector accountants as well as a postgraduate diploma for people already working in leadership positions. Our in-house CIPFA Education and Training Centre delivers the range of our programmes at locations across the UK, and works with other places of learning to provide our courses locally. We also champion high performance in public services, translating our experience and insight into clear advice and practical services. They include information and guidance, courses and conferences, property and asset management solutions, consultancy and interim people for a range of public sector clients. Globally, CIPFA shows the way in public finance by standing up for sound public financial management and good governance. We work with governments, accounting bodies and the public sector around the world to advance public finance and support its professionals.



INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

- 1. LAAP Bulletin 55 (Guidance note on local authority reserves and balances) was issued in February 2003. This was followed by its replacement in 2008 by LAAP Bulletin 77. LAAP Bulletin 77 included a number of events and changes that occurred including the publication of the Prudential Code and the beginnings of the financial downturn. Since the issue of LAAP Bulletin 77, the IFRS-based Code has been published and this bulletin has been updated to reflect the new requirements of that Code. In addition, during a period of financial austerity for the public sector, the Local Authority Accounting Panel considers that it is necessary to update the guidance on local authority reserves and balances.
- 2. The "New Reporting Framework" described in LAAP Bulletin 55 has now largely been overtaken by statutory requirements, but is included in Appendix A for information.
- 3. The advice previously provided by LAAP Bulletin 77 which focussed on the financial impact of flooding is included in Appendix B.
- 4. Further resources and information are provided at Appendix C.
- 5. Relevant extracts from the IFRS-based Code are provided at Appendix D.

PURPOSE

6. This bulletin provides guidance to local authority chief finance officers in England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales on the establishment and maintenance of local authority reserves and balances.

APPLICATION

- 7. In England, Scotland and Wales the guidance is applicable to local authorities, joint committees and joint boards of principal authorities.
- 8. In England and Wales the guidance is applicable to Police and Crime Commissioners, Chief Constables and fire and rescue authorities.
- 9. In Northern Ireland the guidance applies to all district councils.
- 10. The general principles set out in this guidance apply to an authority's General Fund, Council Fund, Police Fund and, where appropriate, to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).
- 11. The advice in this bulletin relates to reserves, not provisions. The Code definitions of provisions and reserves are included in Appendix D to this bulletin for information.
- 12. This bulletin replaces LAAP Bulletin 77.

 $^{^{1}}$ Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

- 13. The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute. Sections 31A, 32 42A and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require billing and precepting authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting estimated future expenditure when calculating the budget requirement. Section 93 of the 1992 Act requires Scottish authorities, in calculating council tax, to take into account 'any means by which those expenses may otherwise be met or provided for'. This includes reserves.
- 14. In Scotland there are explicit statutory powers under schedule 3 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1975 permitting certain local authorities to establish a renewal and repair fund, an insurance fund and a capital fund alongside a requirement, as in England and Wales, to maintain a General Fund (section 93 of Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973). LASAAC has published guidance on reserves which is available from the LASAAC website. In Northern Ireland, Section 9 of the Local Government Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011 enables councils to maintain other funds in addition to the General Fund. Local authorities may however 'earmark' specific parts of the General Fund reserve. This earmarking of a proportion of the General Fund is referred to in this Bulletin as Earmarked Reserves.
- 15. There are also a range of safeguards in place that help to prevent local authorities over-committing themselves financially. These include:
 - the balanced budget requirement:
 - England, sections 31A, 42A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended
 - Wales, sections 32 and 43 and Scotland, 93 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and
 - section 85 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999
 - chief finance officers' duty to report on robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves (under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003) when the authority is considering its budget requirement (England and Wales)
 - chief finance officers' duty to report on the robustness of estimates and the adequacy of reserves (under sections 4 and 6 of the Local Government and Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011
 - the legislative requirement for each local authority to make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and that the chief finance officer / proper officer has responsibility for the administration of those affairs section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and section 1 of the Local Government and Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011
 - the requirements of the Prudential Code.
- 16. These requirements are reinforced by section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which requires the chief finance officer in England and Wales to report to all the authority's councillors if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced budget. This would include situations where reserves have become seriously depleted and it is forecast that the authority will not have the resources to meet its expenditure in a particular financial year. The issue of a section 114 notice cannot be taken lightly and has serious operational implications. Indeed, the authority's full council must meet within 21 days to consider the s114 notice and

during that period the authority is prohibited from entering into new agreements involving the incurring of expenditure.

- 17. Whilst it is primarily the responsibility of the local authority and its chief financial officer to maintain a sound financial position, external auditors will confirm that there are no material uncertainties about going concern. Even where as part of their wider role auditors have to report on an authority's financial position, it is not their responsibility to prescribe the optimum or minimum level of reserves for individual authorities or authorities in general.
- 18. CIPFA's Prudential Code requires chief finance officers in local authorities to have full regard to affordability when making recommendations about the local authority's future capital programme. Such consideration includes the level of long term revenue commitments. Indeed, in considering the affordability of its capital plans, the authority is required to consider all of the resources available to it/estimated for the future, together with the totality of its capital plans and revenue forecasts for the forthcoming year and the following two years.

ROLE OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (PROPER OFFICER IN SCOTLAND)

- 19. Within the existing statutory and regulatory framework, it is the responsibility of chief finance officers (proper officer in Scotland) to advise local authorities about the level of reserves that they should hold and to ensure that there are clear protocols for their establishment and use. Reserves should not be held without a clear purpose.
- 20. CIPFA and the Local Authority Accounting Panel consider that local authorities should establish reserves including the level of those reserves based on the advice of their chief finance officers. Authorities should make their own judgements on such matters taking into account all the relevant local circumstances. Such circumstances vary. A well-managed authority, for example, with a prudent approach to budgeting should be able to operate with a level of general reserves appropriate for the risks (both internal and external) to which it is exposed. In assessing the appropriate level of reserves, a well-managed authority will ensure that the reserves are not only adequate but are also necessary. There is a broad range within which authorities might reasonably operate depending on their particular circumstances.
- 21. Section 26 of the Local Government Act 2003 gives Ministers in England and Wales a general power to set a minimum level of reserves for local authorities. However, the government has undertaken to apply this only to individual authorities in the circumstances where an authority does not act prudently, disregards the advice of its chief finance officer and is heading for serious financial difficulty. This accords with CIPFA's view that a generally applicable minimum level is inappropriate, as a minimum level of reserve will only be imposed where an authority is not following best financial practice (including the guidance in this bulletin).

TYPES OF RESERVE

- 22. When reviewing their medium term financial plans and preparing their annual budgets local authorities should consider the establishment and maintenance of reserves. These can be held for three main purposes:
 - a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves;
 - a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies this also forms part of general reserves;

a means of building up funds, often referred to as earmarked reserves (or earmarked portion of the general fund in Scotland - see below), to meet known or predicted requirements; earmarked reserves are accounted for separately but remain legally part of the General Fund.

Category of Earmarked Reserve	Rationale
Sums set aside for major schemes, such as capital developments or asset purchases, or to fund major reorganisations	Where expenditure is planned in future accounting periods, it is prudent to set aside resources in advance.
Insurance reserves (note that the Insurance Fund is a statutory fund in Scotland)	Self-insurance is a mechanism used by a number of local authorities. In the absence of any statutory basis (other than in Scotland) sums held to meet potential and contingent liabilities are reported as earmarked reserves where these liabilities do not meet the definition of a provision under the requirements of the Code's adoption of IAS 37 <i>Provisions, Contingent Assets and Liabilities</i>).
Reserves of trading and business units	Surpluses arising from in-house trading may be retained to cover potential losses in future years, or to finance capital expenditure.
Reserves retained for service departmental use	Authorities may have internal protocols that permit year-end underspendings at departmental level to be carried forward.
Reserves for unspent revenue grants	Where revenue grants have no conditions or where the conditions are met and expenditure has yet to take place. The Code Guidance Notes recommend that these sums are held in earmarked reserves (see paragraph 29 below).
Schools balances	These are unspent balances of budgets delegated to individual schools.

FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR RESERVES

- 23. The IFRS-based *Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom* (the Code) introduced the Movement in Reserves Statement to local authority financial statements in the 2010/11 financial year. This Statement presents the movement in the year of the reserves of the authority analysed into usable reserves, (eg General Fund, HRA Balances and earmarked reserves) and unusable reserves (see paragraph 24 below).
- 24. Unusable reserves arise out of the interaction of legislation and proper accounting practice either to store revaluation gains or as adjustment accounts to reconcile accounting requirements driven by reporting standards to statutory requirements.

These reserves², which are not resource-backed and cannot be used for any other purpose, are described below:

Revaluation Reserves

- The Revaluation Reserve this is a reserve that records unrealised gains in the value of property, plant and equipment. The reserve increases when assets are revalued upwards, and decreases as assets are depreciated or when assets are revalued downwards or disposed of. Local authorities might benefit from these gains in the future from the continued use of the assets or from their sale. The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account.
- The Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments Reserve this is a reserve that records unrealised revaluation gains arising from holding available-for-sale investments, plus any unrealised losses that have not arisen from impairment of the assets. Local authorities might benefit in the future from the gains when the investments mature or are sold or they might be lost in falls in value.

Adjustment Accounts

- The Pensions Reserve this is a specific accounting mechanism used to reconcile the payments made for the year to various statutory pension schemes in accordance with those schemes' requirements and the net change in the authority's recognised liability under the Code's adoption of IAS 19 *Employee Benefits*, for the same period. A transfer is made to or from the pensions reserve to ensure that the charge to the General Fund reflects the amount required to be raised in taxation. For example, the debit balance on the Reserve shows that an authority has made commitments to fund pensions that the Government has permitted it to fund from contributions to be made in future years.
- The Capital Adjustment Account this is a specific accounting mechanism used to reconcile the different rates at which assets are depreciated under proper accounting practice and are financed through the capital controls system. Statute requires that the charge to the General Fund is determined by the capital controls system. For example, the credit balance on the Account shows that an authority has generally financed capital investment in advance of receiving the benefits of that investment. The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.
- The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account this is a specific accounting mechanism used to reconcile the different rates at which gains and losses (such as premiums on the early repayment of debt) are recognised under proper accounting practice and are required by statute to be met from the General Fund. For example, the debit balance on the Account shows that an authority has incurred expenses on borrowings that the Government has permitted it to spread over future years.

² In addition to the Reserves included in this list authorities may hold the deferred capital receipts reserve and the accumulated absences account. Further details on these reserves are included in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom Guidance Notes for Practitioners 2013/14 Accounts.

- The Unequal Pay Back Pay Account this is a specific accounting mechanism used to reconcile the different rates at which payments in relation to compensation for previous unequal pay are recognised under proper accounting practice and are required by statute to be met from the General Fund. This account is not applicable to Scotland.
 - Collection Fund Adjustment Account this is a specific accounting mechanism used to reconcile the differences arising from the recognition of council tax and non-domestic rates income (England)) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to those amounts required to be charged by statute to the General Fund. For example, the credit balance on the Account shows that more tax has been collected on behalf of the authority and the precepting bodies (and central government in England for non-domestic rates income) than an authority is permitted to transfer out of the Collection Fund by 31 March. This account is not applicable to Scotland.
- 25. Other such reserves may be created in future where developments in local authority accounting result in timing differences between the recognition of income and expenditure under proper accounting practice and under statute or regulation.
- 26. In addition authorities will hold the following two usable reserves:
 - a Major Repairs Reserve (England and Wales), where relevant in England this reserve records the unspent amount of HRA balances for capital financing purposes in accordance with statutory requirements for the Reserve. In Wales this represents the amounts unspent from the Major Repairs Allowance capital grant.
 - a Capital Receipts Reserve (Capital Fund in Scotland³) this reserve holds the proceeds from the sale of assets, and can only be used for those purposes specified in the capital finance and accounting regulations⁴ in England, Northern Ireland and Wales and for capital purposes in Scotland.
- 27. The Code recommends that earmarked reserves are reported on the face of the Movement in Reserves Statement. Particularly significant movements might need to be reported individually on the face of the Statement to ensure key messages are presented clearly to users. However, effective reporting may either as an alternative or as a supplementary report necessitate similar disclosures in the notes to the financial statements (see paragraphs 3.4.2.41 and 3.4.2.42 of the Code which are also included in Appendix D for ease of reference).
- 28. When establishing reserves, local authorities need to ensure that they are complying with the Code and in particular the need to distinguish between reserves and provisions. Definitions of reserves and provisions are included in Appendix D of this Bulletin.
- 29. The introduction of the IFRS-based Code on 1 April 2010 has meant that grant income should be recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (and therefore against the General (Council) Fund or HRA Balances for

⁴ The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003, as amended, The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003, as amended and the Local Government (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2011.

³ The Statutory Basis for Accounting and Disclosing Reserves in Local Authorities in Scotland [LASAAC, 2005] states "Useable capital receipts reserves are considered to be allowable under the power contained within Schedule 3, para 22 of the 1975 Act. Such a reserve effectively acts as a subset of the capital reserve specifically permitted by legislation."

revenue grants) where grant payment is unconditional or grant conditions have been satisfied⁵. The Code Guidance Notes recommend⁶ that where these grants have been received prior to the expenditure having taken place authorities should consider establishing earmarked reserves. This will ensure that amounts are set aside from the General (or Council) Fund and HRA balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing to meet the requirements of the grant. The amounts set aside will be posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund and HRA expenditure in future years. It is likely therefore that since the introduction of the IFRS-based Code there is an increased tendency to hold earmarked reserves.

- 30. The statutory reporting regime described earlier and effective financial management underpin the need for clear, transparent reporting arrangements for reserves and therefore in addition to the financial reporting requirements above, LAAP recommends that for each earmarked reserve (earmarked portion of the general fund in Scotland) held by a local authority there should be a clear protocol setting out:
 - the reason for / purpose of the reserve;
 - how and when the reserve can be used;
 - procedures for the reserve's management and control; and
 - a process and timescale for review of the reserve to ensure continuing relevance and adequacy.

PRINCIPLES TO ASSESS THE ADEQUACY OF RESERVES

- 31. In order to assess the adequacy of unallocated general reserves when setting the budget, chief finance officers should take account of the strategic, operational and financial risks facing the authority. Where authorities are being reorganised, this assessment should be conducted on the basis that the services will continue to be provided, and adequate reserves will therefore be required by successor authorities. The assessment of risks should include external risks, such as flooding, as well as internal risks, for example, the ability to deliver planned efficiency savings. In England and Wales, statutory provisions require authorities to review at least once in a year the effectiveness of their system of internal control, which will include risk management. The CIPFA/SOLACE framework *Delivering Good Governance in Local Government* details an approach to giving assurance that risk, control and governance matters are being addressed in accordance with best practice.
- 32. The Codes of Audit Practice in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland make it clear that it is the responsibility of the audited body to identify and address its operational and financial risks, and to develop and implement proper arrangements to manage them, including adequate and effective systems of internal control. The financial risks should be assessed in the context of the authority's overall approach to risk management.

Budget Assumptions	Financial standing and management assessment/impact
The treatment of inflation and interest rates	The overall financial standing of the authority (level of borrowing, debt outstanding, council tax collection rates

⁵ See Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom Section 2.3.

⁶ See Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom Guidance Notes for Practitioners 2013/14 Accounts, paragraphs C39 and C40.

Estimates of the level and timing of capital receipts	etc.). Rises in the prices of some commodities, eg fuel, highlight the relevance of using a number of inflation rates in the budget and financial strategy, and considering whether general reserves are adequate to deal with unexpected increases. Volatility in the financial markets also points to the need to consider investment and borrowing risks and their impact on income. The authority's track record in budget and financial management including the robustness of the medium term plans. Authorities will also need to take into
	account changes in the property market, and adjust estimates and assumptions for reserves accordingly.
The treatment of demand led pressures	The authority's capacity to manage in-year budget pressures, and its strategy for managing both demand and service delivery in the longer term.
The treatment of planned efficiency savings/ productivity gains	The strength of the financial information and reporting arrangements. The authority should also be in a position to activate contingency plans should the reporting arrangements identify that planned savings or gains will either not be achieved or be delayed.
The financial risks inherent in any significant new funding partnerships, major outsourcing arrangements or major capital developments	The authority's virement and end of year procedures in relation to budget under/overspends at authority and department/directorate level. Risk management measures in relation to partnerships, including consideration of risk allocation. Contract provisions designed to safeguard the authority's position in the event of problems arising from outsourcing arrangements.
The availability of reserves, government grants and other funds to deal with major contingencies and the adequacy of provisions	The adequacy of the authority's insurance arrangements to cover major unforeseen risks. When considering insurance cover, the structure of the cover as well as the overall level of risk should be taken into account. Risk assessments should be used when balancing the levels of insurance premiums and reserves.
The general financial climate to which the authority is subject	External factors, such as future funding levels expected to be included in Spending Reviews and expected referenda principles and limits, will influence an authority's ability to replenish reserves once they have been used. Any plans for using reserves will

Whist many of these factors relate to setting the annual budget, the level of risk and uncertainty associated with these factors will be relevant in determining an appropriate level of reserves.

- 33. Authorities have been faced by increasing financial pressures since 2008. This has been followed by a period of significant reduction in government funding which is anticipated to continue for some time, ie the spending review 2013 announced that the government will reduce total spending in 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 in real terms at the same rate as during the spending review 2010 period. Demands on local government services continue to increase. In addition to reduction in government funding other pressures include:
 - councils striving to constrain council tax increases,
 - reductions of income,
 - new service demands and responsibilities such as:
 - the transfer of public health functions
 - the localisation of non-domestic rates retention, council tax freezes and council tax benefits/support
 - severe weather and floods.

Furthermore, events such as the losses in Icelandic banks and the problems in global financial markets are likely to mean that Councils will focus on cautious investment strategies. Council budgets and reserves have remained under pressure and are likely to continue to do so for some time.

- 34. The many factors involved when considering appropriate levels of reserves can only be assessed properly at a local level. A considerable degree of professional judgement is required. The chief finance officer may choose to express advice on the level of balances in cash and/or as a percentage of budget (to aid understanding) so long as that advice is tailored to the circumstances of the authority. The Audit Commission Report (December 2012) *Striking a Balance* makes a number of recommendations to both Chief Finance Officers and elected members to better assist councils in their decision making. Similarly the Accounts Commission in its report *An overview of local government in Scotland 2014* commented that more needs to be done to provide information on why reserves are held, how this fits with the councils financial strategy and how they will be used. The principles and financial reporting established in this and the previous LAAP bulletins on reserves will provide for the information requirements and an appropriate framework for this.
- 35. The advice should be set in the context of the authority's risk register and medium term plans and should not focus exclusively on short-term considerations. Balancing the annual budget by drawing on general reserves may be viewed as a legitimate short-term option. However, it is not normally prudent for reserves to be deployed

⁷ Issued by the Accounts Commission in March 2014

to finance recurrent expenditure. CIPFA has commented⁸ that Councils should be particularly wary about using one off reserves to deal with shortfalls in current funding. Where such action is to be taken, this should be made explicit, and an explanation given as to how such expenditure will be funded in the medium to long term. Advice should be given on the adequacy of reserves over the lifetime of the medium term financial plan, and should also take account of the expected need for reserves in the longer term.

- 36. Events such as the floods and severe weather that occurred earlier this year (2014) and previously in the floods during the summers of 2007 and 2008 have emphasised the need for authorities to be prepared for major unforeseen events. Adequate insurance cover combined with appropriate levels of reserves will enable authorities to manage the demands placed on them in such circumstances. However, these arrangements need to take account of all possible scenarios. An example quoted in the Audit Commission report *Staying Afloat* is that the total cost of the flooding was reduced where authorities had specifically considered the impact of a wide scale, serious event affecting many assets, and had taken appropriate action, for example, negotiating insurance policies that capped the total excesses linked to one event.
- 37. Part of the risk management process involves taking appropriate action to mitigate or remove risks, where this is possible. This in turn may lead to a lower level of reserves being required, and it would be appropriate to consider reducing the level of balances held where appropriate action to mitigate or remove risks has been successfully undertaken. A balance will need to be found between maintaining adequate levels of reserves and investing in risk reduction measures. This balance should form part of the risk management process and be considered as part of the annual budget process.
- 38. Emergency financial assistance from central government may be available to assist authorities in dealing with the immediate consequences of major unforeseen events, normally under the Emergency Financial Assistance to Local Authorities scheme (commonly known as the 'Bellwin' scheme). However, there is no automatic entitlement to financial assistance, and where financial assistance is given, it will not cover all of the costs even in exceptional circumstances. Further details of the scheme are available on the relevant government web sites (links can be found in Appendix C of this bulletin). Authorities should plan to have access to sufficient resources (through reserves, insurance or a combination of both) to cover the costs of recovering from events that are likely to be unavoidable.
- 39. When considering the level of reserves, it would be appropriate for authorities to take into account the likely level of Government support that would be available, and to consider how the balance would be funded in the event of an unforeseen event occurring.
- 40. Flooding, the effects of severe weather and the impact of the problems experienced by the global financial markets are examples of external risks which local authorities may need to take into account in setting levels of reserves and wider financial planning. An assessment of external risks should not be limited to those issues, but should range more widely, to take account of all significant external risks identified through the authority's risk management processes.

⁸ See comments by CIPFA Chief Executive *Building up council reserves to protect the public from future financial problems is good financial management* – CIPFA http://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/latest-press-releases/building-up-council-reserves

EXTRACT FROM LAAP BULLETIN 55

7 A New Reporting Framework

- 7.1 The finance director has a fiduciary duty to local taxpayers, and must be satisfied that the decisions taken on balances and reserves represent proper stewardship of public funds.
- 7.2 The level and utilisation of reserves will be determined formally by the Council, informed by the advice and judgement of the finance director ⁹. To enable the Council to reach its decision, the finance director should report the factors that influenced his or her judgement, and ensure that the advice given is recorded formally. Where the finance director's advice is not accepted this should be recorded formally in the minutes of the council meeting.

7.3 It is recommended that:

- the budget report to the Council should include a statement showing the estimated opening general reserve fund balance for the year ahead, the addition to/withdrawal from balances, and the estimated end of year balance. Reference should be made as to the extent to which such reserves are to be used to finance recurrent expenditure
- this should be accompanied by a statement from the finance director on the adequacy of the general reserves and provisions in respect of the forthcoming financial year and the authority's medium term financial strategy
- a statement reporting on the annual review of earmarked reserves (including schools' reserves) should also be made at the same time to the Council. The review itself should be undertaken as part of the budget preparation process. The statement should list the various earmarked reserves, the purposes for which they are held and provide advice on the appropriate levels. It should also show the estimated opening balances for the year, planned additions/withdrawals and the estimated closing balances.

⁹ LAAP Bulletin 99 normally refers to Chief Finance Officers – previous editions of this Bulletin referred to Finance Directors.

EXTRACT FROM LAAP BULLETIN 77

- 27. "...Alternative arrangements, for example mutual aid agreements, may help to reduce the reliance on reserves or insurance. The Pitt Review into the 2007 floods, although specifically focused on England, will be of relevance to all local authorities. This recommended that "Local authorities should continue to make arrangements to bear the cost of recovery for all but the most exceptional emergencies, and should revisit their reserves and insurance arrangements in light of last summer's floods." The Government's position remains that it is primarily the local authority's responsibility to bear such costs, and authorities should note this position when considering the appropriate level of reserves."
- 28 "... However, both the Pitt Review and Staying Afloat noted that most central government assistance provided to local authorities in relation to the 2007 floods was ad hoc in nature. The government has been keen to stress that they should not be seen as setting a precedent and should not be relied on in the future. Authorities will therefore need to make their own assessments of the likely level of support. "

FURTHER INFORMATION:

The Pitt Review can be downloaded from:

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100807034701/http:/archive.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/pittreview/thepittreview/final_report.html

Staying Afloat can be downloaded from:

http://archive.audit-

<u>commission.gov.uk/auditcommission/SiteCollectionDocuments/AuditCommissionReports/NationalStudies/StayingAfloat_REP14Dec07.pdf</u>

Both reports provide additional advice to local authorities on planning for and managing the financial impacts of exceptional events.

LASAAC Guidance on Reserves in Scotland can be downloaded from:

http://www.cipfa.org/regions/scotland/policy-and-technical/local-authority-scotland-accounts-advisory-committee/guidance-and-publications/accounting-for-interest-on-reserves

Details of the Emergency Financial Assistance (Bellwin) Scheme can be downloaded from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/210953/ The Bellwin Scheme of Emergency Financial Assistance to Local Authorities.pdf

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Government/local-government/17999/Bellwin

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/emergency/publications/efas-guidance-notes-14-15/?lang=en

The Audit Commission Report *Striking a Balance* can be downloaded from: http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/2012/12/striking-a-balance-improving-councils-decision-making-on-reserves/

Accounts Commission *An overview of local government in Scotland 2014* (March 2014) can be accessed at:

http://www.audit-

scotland.gov.uk/docs/local/2014/nr 140327 local government overview.pdf

CODE OF PRACTICE ON LOCAL AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING IN THE UNITED KINGDOM DEFINITIONS (AND RELEVANT EXTRACTS OF) RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

CHAPTER TWO: CONCEPTS AND PRINCIPLES

2.1.2.25 Reserves – the residual interest in the assets of the authority after deducting all its liabilities. The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the true economic cost of providing the authority's services, represented by the line 'Surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services'. Some income and expenditure is required to be recognised on a different basis or in a different accounting period (ie in accordance with legislation) in the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account. These differences are shown in the line 'Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations'. Voluntary transfers to or from the General Fund Balance and Housing Revenue Account Balance also affect the amount to be funded from council tax or council dwelling rents; these are shown in the line 'Transfers to or from reserves available to fund services'. The Movement in Reserves Statement also shows Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, for example revaluation gains.

CHAPTER THREE: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- 3.4.2.41 The classification of reserves presented in the Movement in Reserves Statement shall include the following items; authorities may choose to present additional items on the face of the statement:
 - a) General Fund Balance (in Scotland, includes earmarked portion of General Fund Balance)
 - b) Earmarked General Fund Reserves (not Scotland) (recommended but not mandatory)
 - c) Housing Revenue Account Balance (in Scotland, includes earmarked portion of Housing Revenue Account Balance)
 - d) Earmarked Housing Revenue Account Reserves (not Scotland) (recommended but not mandatory)
 - e) Major Repairs Reserve (England and Wales)
 - f) Revenue statutory funds (Scotland)
 - g) Capital Receipts Reserve (England and Wales); Capital statutory funds (Scotland)
 - h) Capital Grants Unapplied Account
 - i) Total usable reserves
 - j) Unusable reserves
 - k) Total reserves of the authority
 - I) Authority's share of the reserves of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (Group Accounts only)
 - m) Total reserves (Group Accounts only).
- 3.4.2.42 A local authority shall present, either in the Movement in Reserves Statement or in the notes, an analysis of the amounts included in each item of the classification of reserves required by paragraph 3.4.2.41. This analysis shall present amounts held for capital purposes separately from those held for revenue purposes, and shall separately identify the total reserves held by schools.

CHAPTER EIGHT: LIABILITIES

- **8.2.2.9** A **provision** is a liability of uncertain timing or amount.
- 8.2.2.12 A provision shall be recognised when:

- an authority has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event
- it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation, and
- a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
- **8.2.2.13** If the above conditions are not met, no provision shall be recognised.
- 8.2.2.14 In some cases it is not clear whether there is a present obligation. In these cases, a past event is deemed to give rise to a present obligation if, taking account of all available evidence, it is more likely than not that a present obligation exists at the reporting date. A past event that leads to a present obligation is called an obligating event.

Agenda Item 8

Work Plan 2017/18

- The Service Improvement and Finance Scrutiny Performance Panel Work Plan
 has been developed based upon core performance and financial monitoring
 reports, topic suggestions based on discussion at the Scrutiny Work Planning
 Conference. It provides a basic framework that allows for items to be added or
 removed allowing for flexibility throughout the year for any key issues that may
 arise.
- All meetings will be at 10.30am with a preparation meeting at 10.00am if required and will be held in Committee Room 5 in the Guildhall unless otherwise stated.
- The role of this report is to provide an outline of planned work. It can be altered to accommodate for issues which arise throughout the year.

Date and Location 10.30am – 12.30pm (10.00am Pre-Meeting when required)	Items to be discussed
Meeting 1 Wednesday 2 nd August	 Role of the Service Improvement and Finance Panel Officer Briefing Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager) Work Plan
Meeting 2 Wednesday 6 th September	 End of Year 2016/17 Performance Monitoring Report Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager) Corporate Plan 2017/22 Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager) Capital Outturn and Financing 2016/17 Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre)

	Q1 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 2017/18 Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre)
Meeting 3 Wednesday 4 th October	 Annual Report – Welsh Language Standards 2016/17 - Confirmed Rhian Millar – Consultation Co-ordinator Ann Williams – Network 50+ Administrator Quarter 1 2017/18 Performance Monitoring Report Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager) Local Government Performance Bulletin 2016-17 (Local Government Data Unit Wales)
Additional Meeting Monday 16 th October 2pm	Public Protection Commissioning Review – Pre Decision
Meeting 4 Wednesday 1st November	 Recycling and Landfill - Annual Performance Monitoring - Confirmed lan Whettleton - Acting Divisional Officer Mid-Year Budget Statement 2017/18 Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre) Reserve Update Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre)
Meeting 5 Wednesday 6 th December	 Annual Review of Performance 2016/17 Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager) Welsh Public Library Standards - Annual Performance Report - Confirmed Karen Gibbins - Principle Librarian for Information & Learning

	Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre)
Meeting 6 Wednesday 10 th January	Quarter 2 2017/18 Performance Monitoring Report Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager)
	Corporate Complaints Annual Report - Confirmed Cllr Clive Lloyd – Cabinet member for Transformation & Performance Lee Wenham – Head of Communications & Customer Engagement Andrew Taylor – Corporate Complaints Manager
	Perception Surveys Report – Confirmed Rhian Millar – Consultation Co-ordinator Chris Sivers – Director - People
Additional Meeting Tuesday 6th February	Budget Scrutiny Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre)
Meeting 7 Wednesday 7 th February	Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring Ben Smith (Head of Financial Services & Service Centre)
Meeting 8 Wednesday 7 th March	Charges - Highways and Waste Chris Williams – Head of Commercial Services
Meeting 9 Wednesday 4 th April	Quarter 3 2017/18 Performance Monitoring Report Richard Rowlands (Corporate Performance Manager)
	Annual Work Plan Review Reflect on this year's work with any ideas for future scrutiny

To be scheduled:

- Budget ScrutinyCommissioning Reviews
 - 1. Highways & Transportation Service